NO. (2) 22 -2SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON [Court of Appeals No. 69917-2-1]

MICHAEL FARROW and LIDIA FARROW,

Respondents,

v.

FLOWSERVE US INC., solely as successor to EDWARD VALVES, INC.,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew M. Garrett Martha S. Brown Rana H. Janney EDWARDS WILDMAN PALMER LLP

225 West Wacker Drive Suite 3000 Chicago, IL 60606 (312) 201-2000 Randy Aliment WSBA #11440 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC

Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 628-6600

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER				
II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION				
III. ISSUES P	RESENTED FOR REVIEW1			
IV. STATEM	ENT OF THE CASE2			
V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED8				
А.	Preserving the protections that <i>Braaten</i> and <i>Simonetta</i> provide to product manufacturers from liability for products they did not sell and determining what minimum evidence must be presented to show that the defendant sold the alleged injury-producing product are issues of substantial public interest and first impression that should be determined by the Supreme Court			
B.	The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with this Court's holdings in <i>Braaten</i> and <i>Simonetta</i> because it allows plaintiffs to avoid summary judgment without evidence that the defendant placed the injury-causing product into the stream of commerce			
	 Mr. Wortman's testimony is inadmissible under ER 602 because he has no personal knowledge of Edward or the Navy's acquisition methods14 			
	2. Mr. Wortman's testimony is inadmissible under ER 804(b)(1) because it is hearsay and no one at his deposition shared Edward's motive of showing that Mr. Farrow was not exposed to asbestos from an Edward product			
	3. Mr. Wortman's testimony does not support an inference that Mr. Farrow was exposed to asbestos that Edward placed in the stream of commerce19			
C.	Unless the Court of Appeals' decision is reversed, the speculative testimony of a now-deceased witness will serve			

· ·

as a universal and permanent bar to any equipment		
manufacturer's motion for summary judgment20		
VI. CONCLUSION		

· ·

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
STATE CASES
Acord v. Pettit, 174 Wn. App. 95, P.3d, 2013 WL 992126
Baldwin v. Silver, 165 Wn. App. 463, 471, 269 P.3d 284 (2011)15
Braaten v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 165 Wn.2d 373, 198 P.3d 127 (2008) (en banc)passim
Cabasug v. Crane Co., No. 12-313, 2013 WL 62151 (D. Hawaii Nov. 26, 2013)11, 13, 20
Carlton v. Black, 153 Wn.2d 152, 166, 102 P.3d 796 (2004)14
Dombrowski v. Alfa Laval, Inc., 2010 WL 4168848 (Mass. Super. Ct. July 1, 2010)11
In re Garlock Sealing Technologies, LLC, 504 B.R. 71 (Bank. W.D.N.C. 2014)
Morgan v. Aurora Pump Co., 159 Wn. App. 724, 248 P.3d 1052 (2011)13, 20
<i>O'Neil v. Crane Co.</i> , 266 P.3d 987 (Cal. 2012)11
Overton v. Consolidated Ins. Co., 145 Wn.2d 417, 430, 38 P.3d 322 (2002)17
Rich v. Kaiser Gypsum Co., Inc., 103 So. 3d 903 (Fl. Dist. Ct. App. 2012)

, , ,

Rumery v. Garlock Sealing Techs.,
2009 Me. Super. LEXIS 73 (Me. Super. Ct. Apr. 24, 2009)11
Simonetta v. Viad Corp.,
165 Wn.2d 341, 197 P.3d 127 (en banc)passim
State v. Le Fever,
102 Wn.2d 777, 690 P.2d 574 (1973)14
Surre v. Foster Wheeler LLC,
831 F.Supp.2d 797, 801 (S.D.N.Y.2011)11
Vedros v. Northrop Grumman Shipbuilding, Inc.,
2014 WL 1093678 (E.D. La. Mar. 14, 2014)
White v. State,
131 Wn.2d 1, 929 P.2d 396 (1997)19
FEDERAL CASES
New England Mut. Life Ins. v. Anderson,
888 F.2d 646 (10th Cir. 1989)18
STATE RULES
ER 602 1, 6, 8, 14, 16, 17
ER 804(b)(1)2, 8, 14, 17, 18, 19
LOCAL ORDERS
King County Consolidated Pretrial Style Order7

. .

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Flowserve US Inc., solely as successor to Edward Valves, Inc., ("Edward") asks the Supreme Court to accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals designated in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Farrow v. Alfa Laval, Inc., et al., ___ Wn. App. __, 2014 Wash. App. LEXIS ____ (No. 69917-2-I), filed on March 3, 2014. A copy of the Slip Opinion is Part A to the Appendix.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the decision of the Court of Appeals conflict with the Supreme Court's holdings in *Braaten v. Saberhagen Holdings Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 37 (2008), and *Simonetta v. Viad Corp.*, 165 Wn.2d 341 (2008), because it allows plaintiffs to avoid summary judgment without offering admissible evidence that the defendant placed the injury-causing product into the stream of commerce?

2. Under ER 602, is a witness who admitted that he has never heard of a company competent to testify about whether it sold asbestos-containing replacement parts to the Navy?

3. Under ER 602, is a witness who had no involvement with the Navy's acquisition of replacement parts and who never demonstrated that he had personal knowledge of the Navy's acquisition procedures

. .

competent to testify about the Navy's "standard operating procedure" for acquiring replacement parts?

4. Under ER 804(b)(1), is deposition testimony from a nowdeceased witness admissible to show that a defendant supplied asbestoscontaining replacement parts to the Navy where the defendant was not a party to the prior lawsuit, did not know about or attend the prior deposition, and where no party at the deposition shared the defendant's motive of showing that the defendant did not supply asbestos-containing replacement parts to the Navy?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an asbestos-related products liability action brought by Michael and Lidia Farrow against Edward, a manufacturer of metal valves, and approximately fifty other defendants. The claims arise from Mr. Farrow's alleged exposure to asbestos from a wide variety of products incurred during his service in the U.S. Navy and his subsequent employment at the Puget Sound National Shipyard ("PSNS").

The plaintiffs' claims against Edward do not arise from Edward's metal valves. They arise solely from Mr. Farrow's alleged exposure to other manufacturers' asbestos-containing products attached to or installed in those metal valves. The plaintiffs claim that Mr. Farrow was exposed to asbestos from external insulation sometimes attached to Edward's metal

.

valves, from flange gaskets installed between Edward's metal valves and pipes or other equipment aboard Navy ships, and from stem packing installed inside some of the valves to prevent steam or fluids from leaking. CP 108-111.

Edward never manufactured any of these products. It only manufactured valves. CP 150-151. Edward's corporate representative, James Tucker, also testified that Edward never distributed or sold any external insulation or flange gaskets. CP 76. While stem packing manufactured by others was installed in some Edward valves when they first left Edward's factory, the stem packing was a consumable product that was repeatedly replaced. CP 55. There is no evidence that Mr. Farrow was exposed to original stem packing in any Edward valve. Mr. Farrow testified that he did not know the maintenance history of any of the valves and there was no way for him to know whether any stem packing was original. CP 60, 61.

There is likewise no evidence that Edward supplied any replacement stem packing that the Navy used in valves, pumps, or other pieces of equipment onboard its ships. While Edward offered for sale other manufacturers' replacement stem packing, there is no evidence that the Navy or PSNS ever purchased any from Edward. Mr. Tucker, who has worked at Edward for over forty years, testified that Edward rarely sold replacement packing because consumers could more cheaply purchase the same stem packing directly from stem packing manufacturers rather than indirectly from Edward. CP 192. He also testified that he was unaware of any replacement packing sales to the Navy or PSNS, CP 193, 197, 198, and that Edward has no records showing any sales to the Navy. CP 76.

Because there was no evidence that Mr. Farrow was exposed to asbestos from an Edward product, Edward moved for summary judgment arguing that under *Braaten v. Saberhagen Holdings Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 37 (2008) and *Simonetta v. Viad Corp.*, 165 Wn.2d 341 (2008), the plaintiffs could not support a necessary element of their claim. CP 11. The plaintiffs responded with the deposition testimony of a deceased witness, Melvin Wortman, given in a lawsuit that did not involve Edward and that Edward did not know about or attend. CP 86. They argued that his testimony created a triable issue of fact as to whether Edward supplied replacement stem packing to the Navy because he believed that the Navy sometimes purchased replacement parts indirectly from some equipment manufacturers. CP 92. Mr. Wortman said nothing, however, about whether Edward was one of those equipment manufacturers. In fact, Mr. Wortman had never heard of Edward:

Q: Let me ask you the names of some valves and see if they sound familiar to you okay?A: Yes.

Q: Edward Valves? A: No.

CP 205.

While Mr. Wortman "believed" it was the Navy's "standard operating procedure" to purchase replacement parts from some equipment manufacturers, CP 483-84, he had no basis for that belief. He had no involvement with the Navy's procurement practices and no way of knowing what the Navy's "standard operating procedure" was for acquiring replacement stem packing. He had no role with the Navy's acquisition of any replacement parts. CP 409. He never ordered any replacement parts, including stem packing. CP 408. And he never saw any purchase orders, invoices, or other documents showing who supplied these parts to the Navy. CP 414.

Mr. Wortman guessed that during the latter part of his career, the Navy purchased "approximately fifty percent of the replacement parts" used at PSNS from various equipment manufacturers. CP 411. He never said whether Edward supplied anything to the Navy, and he admitted that his estimate came only from the "top of his head." CP 411. Mr. Wortman based his belief on his observations at PSNS of stem packing in packaging that he associated with various equipment manufacturers. CP 222. His testimony adds no support to the plaintiff's claims against Edward,

-5-

however, because he had not heard of Edward and therefore could not associate any packaging with it. CP 205.

Even though Mr. Wortman did not say a single word about Edward and his testimony revealed that he knew nothing about the Navy's acquisition protocols, the plaintiffs argued that a jury could "infer" that Mr. Farrow was exposed to asbestos supplied by Edward. Edward objected to the admission of Mr. Wortman's testimony on numerous grounds. He lacked personal knowledge to support his testimony as required by ER 602. His testimony was inadmissible hearsay because it was given in a different case where Edward was not even a party. Edward also argued that if it was admitted, Mr. Wortman's testimony did not show that Mr. Farrow was exposed to asbestos from Edward. CP 226-37.

The trial court initially overruled Edward's objections and denied its motion for summary judgment. CP 363-364.

A few months later, several other defendants filed their own motions for summary judgment making nearly identical arguments to those previously made by Edward. CP 365, 900, 987. Each argued that it was entitled to summary judgment because there was no evidence that Mr. Farrow was exposed to asbestos from their products. The plaintiffs responded to all these motions in exactly the same way, citing to Mr. Wortman's testimony and arguing that it allowed a jury to infer that Mr.

-6-

Farrow may have been exposed to asbestos-containing replacement parts supplied by any of them. CP 561-64.

Confronted with these additional motions, the trial court revisited whether Mr. Wortman's testimony should be admitted. Just as Edward had argued months before, the moving defendants all argued both that Mr. Wortman lacked personal knowledge of whether the Navy obtained replacement parts from them and that his testimony was inadmissible hearsay. CP 1979-1998. Some defendants also argued that his testimony should be barred because the plaintiffs did not comply with the King County Consolidated Pretrial Style Order's requirements for notifying other litigants of a deposition that may be used in future asbestos-related lawsuits. CP 1907. After considering the question again, the trial court changed its ruling and held that Mr. Wortman's testimony could not be offered against any party who did not attend his deposition. CP 592-93.

Because the trial court changed its ruling regarding the admissibility of Mr. Wortman's testimony, Edward renewed its motion for summary judgment asking for the same relief given to the other defendants. CP 569. The court granted Edward's renewed motion. CP 641-642.

The plaintiffs appealed. The Court of Appeals held that Mr. Wortman's testimony could be admitted as an exception to the hearsay

-7-

rule under ER 804(b)(1) and reversed the trial court's order. That rule allows prior testimony to be admitted against a party if it or its predecessors in interest had a prior opportunity and motive to fully examine the witness. Even though Edward had no notice of the deposition, the Court of Appeals found that other defendants qualified as Edward's predecessors in interest because they shared Edward's interest of discrediting any testimony that the Navy purchased replacement parts from any equipment manufacturers. Appendix at 14-15. The decision did not address whether those defendants shared Edward's more specific motive of showing that even if some equipment manufacturers supplied replacement stem packing to the Navy, Edward did not.

Edward moved for reconsideration because the Court of Appeals failed to address Edward's separate arguments that Mr. Wortman lacked personal knowledge about Edward and could not know whether Edward sold anything to the Navy as required by ER 602. Appendix at 21-33. After ordering the plaintiffs to answer, the Court of Appeals denied Edward's motion to reconsider on April 15, 2014. Appendix at 43. Edward now petitions this Court for review of the Court of Appeals' opinion.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

In 2008, the Washington Supreme Court examined whether proof that the defendant placed the alleged injury-producing product into the stream of commerce is an essential element of an asbestos-related products liability claim. In the companion cases of *Braaten v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 373, 198 P.3d 493 (2008) (en banc) and *Simonetta v. Viad Corp.*, 165 Wn.2d 341, 197 P.3d 127 (2008) (en banc), this Court answered that question in the affirmative, holding that manufacturers of metal valves and equipment have no duty to warn of hazards arising from asbestos-containing products that they did not manufacture or sell and were attached to their equipment post-sale (i.e., insulation and flange gaskets), *Simonetta*, 165 Wn.2d at 350-63, or installed as replacement parts (i.e., replacement stem packing). *Braaten*, 165 Wn.2d at 383-98.

This appeal asks the Court to examine, for the first time, the corollary question of what minimum evidence a plaintiff must present to establish this element. Specifically, can a plaintiff avoid summary judgment by offering hearsay and speculation from a now-deceased witness who the defendant never had an opportunity to examine and who admitted he had no knowledge of the defendant or its products? If such testimony can defeat a motion for summary judgment, then this Court's holdings in *Braaten* and *Simonetta* are meaningless and afford no protection at all to manufacturers facing serious claims arising from products they did not manufacture or sell.

-9-

A. Preserving the protections that *Braaten* and *Simonetta* provide to product manufacturers from liability for products they did not sell and determining what minimum evidence must be presented to show that the defendant sold the alleged injuryproducing product are issues of substantial public interest and first impression that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Before this Court's landmark rulings in *Braaten* and *Simonetta*, and motivated by increased bankruptcy filings by traditional asbestos defendants, the plaintiffs' asbestos bar attempted to dramatically expand well-settled principles of products liability law by asking courts to hold manufacturers liable not only for their own products but also for other products attached to their products post-sale.

This Court was the first high court of any state to consider the issue in the context of asbestos litigation, and it squarely rejected the plaintiffs' proposed expansion of well-established law. In *Braaten* and *Simonetta*, the Court held that manufacturers of valves and other equipment have no duty to warn about the hazards of asbestos-containing insulation, flange gaskets, or replacement stem packing that were attached to their equipment post-sale. *Braaten v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d at 383-398, 198 P.3d 493 (2008) (en banc) and *Simonetta v. Viad Corp.*, 165 Wn.2d at 350-63, 197 P.3d 127 (2008) (en banc). Courts across the country soon followed Washington's lead and likewise held that manufacturers of bare metal equipment have no duty to warn about

.

•

products they did not place in the stream of commerce. See, e.g., Rumery v. Garlock Sealing Techs., 2009 Me. Super. LEXIS 73 (Me. Super. Ct. Apr. 24, 2009); Dombrowski v. Alfa Laval, Inc., 2010 WL 4168848 (Mass. Super. Ct. July 1, 2010); Surre v. Foster Wheeler LLC, 831 F.Supp.2d 797, 801 (S.D.N.Y.2011); O'Neil v. Crane Co., 266 P.3d 987 (Cal. 2012); Cabasug v. Crane Company, 2013 WL 6212151 (D. Hawaii Nov. 26, 2013); Vedros v. Northrop Grumman Shipbuilding, Inc., 2014 WL 1093678 (E.D. La. Mar. 14, 2014). These courts recognized that imposing liability upon a product manufacture for somebody else's product would force that manufacturer to become the involuntary insurer of another's product. As explained in Braaten and Simonetta, the public policies underlying product liability law do not justify shifting the costs of accidental injury onto these parties. A seller

by marketing his product for use and consumption, has undertaken and assumed a special responsibility toward any member of the consuming public who may be injured by it; that the public has the right to and does expect, in the case of products which it needs and for which it is forced to rely upon the seller, that reputable sellers will stand behind their goods; that public policy demands that the burden of accidentally injuries caused by products intended for consumption be placed upon those who market them, and be treated as a cost of production against which liability insurance can be obtained; and that the consumer of such products is entitled to the maximum of protection at the hands of someone, and the proper persons to afford it are those who market the products. Simonetta, 165 Wn.2d 341, 363 n. 8 (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 401A cmt. c). These policies do not justify forcing manufacturers to become experts about or insurers of others' products. Id.; Braaten, 165 Wn.2d at 385-86. While consumers are entitled to protection from unsafe products, they have no right to demand that the cost of that protection be shifted to anyone other than those who placed the products into commerce.

B. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with this Court's holdings in *Braaten* and *Simonetta* because it allows plaintiffs to avoid summary judgment without evidence that the defendant placed the injury-causing product into the stream of commerce.

While their efforts to change the law failed, the plaintiffs' bar remained highly motivated to find new ways to extend liability for injuries caused by gaskets and stem packing to companies that never manufactured those products. This became especially true after several of the companies that manufactured those parts and supplied them to the Navy filed for bankruptcy. *See, e.g., In re Garlock Sealing Technologies, LLC*, 504 B.R. 71 (Bank. W.D.N.C. 2014). Therefore, they changed their story and began arguing that it was actually the metal equipment manufacturers—and not the stem packing manufacturers—who supplied asbestos-containing replacement parts to the Navy. The problem with their new argument is that it has never been supported by evidence.

Instead, plaintiffs offer the testimony of a deceased witness, Melvin Wortman, as a magic bullet to oppose any equipment manufacturer's motion for summary judgment motion. See, e.g., Farrow v. Alfa Laval, Inc., et al., ___ Wn. App. __, 2014 Wash. App. LEXIS ____ (No. 69917-2-I), Appendix at 15; Morgan v. Aurora Pump Co., 159 Wn. App. 724, 248 P.3d 1052 (2011); Cabasug v. Crane Co., No. 12-313, 2013 WL 62151, *16 (D. Hawai'i Nov. 26, 2013). They rely on Mr. Wortman's testimony to oppose not only those motions brought by equipment manufacturers that he remembered but also those he did not know. They rely on this same testimony to oppose motions in cases in Washington and elsewhere. Id. While courts outside of Washington have recognized that Mr. Wortman's testimony cannot defeat a motion for summary judgment, Cabasug v. Crane Co., No. 12-313, 2013 WL 62151, *16 (D. Hawaii Nov. 26, 2013), the Washington Court of Appeals has twice relied on his testimony to reverse trial courts' orders granting summary judgment to equipment manufacturers under Braaten and Simonetta's holdings. Farrow v. Alfa Laval, Inc., et al., Wn. App. __, 2014 Wash. App. LEXIS (No. 69917-2-I), Appendix at 15; Morgan v. Aurora Pump Co., 159 Wn. App. 724, 248 P.3d 1052 (2011).

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