RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jun 16, 2014, 2:57 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY EMAIL

NO. 90282-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL FARROW and LIDIA FARROW,

Respondents,

ν.

FLOWSERVE US INC., solely as successor to EDWARD VALVES, INC.,

Petitioner.

Court of Appeals No. 69917-2-I

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WILLIAM RUTZICK, WSBA #11533 KRISTIN HOUSER, WSBA #7286 THOMAS J. BREEN, WSBA #34574 Counsel for Respondents

SCHROETER, GOLDMARK & BENDER

500 Central Building 810 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 622-8000

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

Id. at 351-52 (footnotes omitted).

In *Smith*, the Court of Appeals rejected the evidence under this standard because the "only basis from which we can infer that he knew the distance was a report from someone else." *Id.* at 352 (emphasis added). The limited factual record of foundational basis for testimony in *Smith* falls far short of the foundation basis for testimony here; they are nowhere near each other. Moreover, the trial judge in this case --at RP July 27, 2012, p. 46 found Mr. Wortman to have had sufficient personal knowledge for purposes of ER 602. Other trial courts have done the same. For example, the trial court in *Morgan v. Aurora Pump Co.*, 159 Wn. App. 724, 736, 248 P.3d 1052 (2011), also admitted this very evidence from Mr. Wortman.

Defendant further argues that whether Mr. Wortman worked for the Navy supply system is of some consequence. Defendant's argument follows that

[W]hile Mr. Wortman said that 'it was the Navy's standard operating procedure to procure the gaskets and packing from the equipment manufacturers via the Navy' supply system; CP 600-601, the record shows that Mr. Wortman had no personal knowledge of that system.

Pet., pp. 5, 14-15. Defendant's argument misses the mark in two respects. First, defendant ignores all of the evidence discussed above. Second, defendant's argument proffers a barrier to testimony that does not exist: under defendant's argument a witness would be prohibited from testifying about what packages he or she received from a package delivery company unless he had worked for the package delivery company even though he or she testifies to commonly receiving and observing packages that identified the sender and the package delivery company. Simply put, there is no support for Defendant's argument.

////

////

- B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That Certain Defendants Present At Wortman's Deposition Had An Opportunity And A Similar Motive To Flowserve To Develop Wortman's Deposition Testimony
 - 1. Defendant Never Properly Explained To The Trial Court Why Its Motives To Examine Mr. Wortman Were Different Than Those Of Crane Co. And The Other Defendants Present At The Wortman Deposition In Nelson

The Court of Appeals (at page 13 of its Slip Opinion) adopted the rulings of several federal appeals courts, all of which have established what a party seeking to oppose the admission of evidence pursuant to Section 804(b)(1), must do to inform the court about how its claimed predecessor's motives differed from the party's motives:

When opposing admission of evidence pursuant to ER 804(b)(1), must "explain as clearly as possible ... why the motive and opportunity of the defendants in the first case was not adequate to develop the cross-examination which the instant defendant would have presented to the witness." Dykes v. Raymark Indus., Inc., 801 F.2d 810, 817 (6th Cir. 1986); O'Banion, 968 F.2d at 1015 n.4. In United States v. DiNapoli, 8 F.3d 909 (2d Cir. 1993), the court was not persuaded "by the Government's contention that the absence of similar motive is conclusively demonstrated by the availability at the grand jury of some cross-examination opportunities that were forgone." DiNapoli, 8 F.3d at 914. In explaining why it was not persuaded, the court noted that, "[i]n virtually all subsequent proceedings, examiners will be able to suggest lines of questioning that were not pursued at a prior proceeding." DiNapoli, 8 F.3d at 914. (Emphasis added.) 5

⁵ The Fourth Circuit adopted this requirement as well in *Horne v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.*, 4 F.3d 276 (4th Cir. 1993) and Supermarket of Marlinton, Inc. v. Meadow Gold Dairies, Inc., 71 F.3d 119 (4th Cir. 1995).

Flowserve does not dispute that the Court of Appeals correctly stated the law.

Ample sound and established authority from the Ninth and D.C. Circuits ⁶ also upheld plaintiffs' position that a motive to discredit a witness testifying about a crucial part of the witness's testimony properly serves as a "similar motive." *See* Opening Brief, pp. 24-25 arguing that both Flowserve's goals and the defendants in *Nelson* goals would have been the same – to discredit Mr. Wortman's testimony regarding obtaining replacement parts from the original manufacturers. Petitioner Flowserve also does not dispute the proper application of these cases here, nor does Flowserve even contend that those cases are distinguishable from the matter here.

2. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Applied That Law To The Facts Of Record

The Court of Appeals explained at Slip Op., page 14:

During the *second* summary judgment hearing, attorney Aliment asserted that he <u>would not</u> have asked additional <u>product identification questions</u>, but that competent counsel should have asked additional questions about Wortman's testimony related to obtaining replacement parts from the original manufacturers. (Emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeals then rejected defendant's arguments, stating:

⁶ United States v. McFall, 558 F.3d 951 (9th Cir. 2009) and United States v. Miller, 904 F.2d 65 (D.C. Cir. 1990).

All of the manufacturers were interested in discrediting Wortman's testimony, which supported Farrow's position that if he worked with or around valves at PSNS that were being repaired or replaced during a period of years in the 1960s and 1970s, he would likely have been exposed to new and replacement asbestos-containing insulation, gaskets, and packing supplies to the PSNS by the manufacturers during that time period. Furthermore, although each manufacturer may have hoped to spread liability to as many parties as possible if their respective defenses failed, that fact would not extinguish the shared motive of discrediting Wortman's testimony so that no manufacturer would be held liable.

Id. (emphasis added).

Defendant's attempt to argue against this analysis ignores the record and misstates or misunderstands the import of Mr. Wortman's testimony. The record already establishes that Mr. Wortman was not familiar with "Edward Valves." CP 205. As such, unless the question somehow were to jog Mr. Wortman's memory, any specific question about Edward Valves was likely to be met with a similar answer of lack of familiarity. Flowserve also flatly asserted that their counsel "would not have asked additional product identification questions" for fear of jogging Mr. Wortman's memory. RP January 7, 2013 (transcript pages 4-9). Since no questions specific to Edward Valves would have been asked, the only relevant issue involving similarity of motive would have been to "Wortman's testimony relating to obtaining replacement parts from the original manufacturers." Slip Op., p. 14.

That portion of Wortman's testimony was not product specific. Rather, it and the extensive corresponding cross-examination, turned on such matters as Mr. Wortman's recollection of observing that the packaging of replacement parts was from the original manufacturer and the Navy and PSNS's new policy of obtaining such replacement parts, including gaskets and packing, from the original manufacturer of the valves.⁷ Flowserve has mischaracterized Mr. Wortman's testimony as being "that the Navy purchased replacement parts from some equipment manufacturer" (Pet., p. 18), but Mr. Wortman's actual testimony stands as follows: "it was the standard operating procedure to purchase the gaskets and packing from the equipment manufacturer via the Navy supply system." CP 599-600. A "standard operating procedure" is "established or prescribed method to be followed routinely for the performance of designated operation or in designated situations. - called also standing operating procedure" (emphasis added), and, thus, is a method that "is See discussion, infra, citing WEBSTER'S NEW applied routinely." TWENTIETH DICTIONARY (2d Ed), page 1149. The standard operating procedure issues the issues about which Flowserve's counsel said that competent counsel should have further inquired about, and which are

⁷ Mr. Wortman's testimony appears in several pages in the Clerk's Papers. CP 202-225 includes more than 70 deposition pages. CP 393-423 contains some partially overlapping pages as do CP 440-485.

precisely the issues where the Court of Appeals correctly found that Flowserve had similarity of motive. That Flowserve chose not to ask further questions, whether for strategic reasons or otherwise, does not change the fact that they had the motive and opportunity to do so, but passed. Regardless, there is no such that as an ineffective assistance of counsel argument in civil litigation.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Completely Consistent With Braaten and Simonetta.

Defendant acknowledges that this Court's decisions in *Braaten* and *Simonetta* hold that liability for product-related injuries can properly be assigned to entities that sell or market the product.⁸ Evidence that would allow a trier of fact to infer that Flowserve sold asbestos-containing

As explained in *Braaten* and *Simonetta*, the public policies underlying product liability law do not justify shifting the costs of accidental injury onto these parties. A seller:

by marketing his product for use and consumption, has undertaken and assumed a special responsibility toward any member of the consuming public who may be injured by it; that the public has the right to and does expect, in the case of products which it needs and for which it is forced to rely upon the seller, that reputable sellers will stand behind their goods; that public policy demands that the burden of accidentally injuries caused by products intended for consumption be placed upon those who market them, and be treated as a cost of production against which liability insurance can be obtained; and that the consumer of such products is entitled to the maximum of protection at the hands of someone, and the proper persons to afford it are those who market the products. Simonetta, 165 Wn.2d 341, 363 n. 8 (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 401A cmt. c). ... While consumers are entitled to protection from unsafe products, they have no right to demand that the cost of that protection be shifted to anyone other than those who placed the products into commerce. (Emphasis added.)

⁸ Defendant's Petition at pages 11-12 states:

products to which Mr. Farrow was exposed is thus completely consistent with *Braaten* and *Simonetta*. Nothing in *Braaten* and *Simonetta* even addressed t evidentiary principles applied by multiple federal court cases in asbestos as well as other cases, or came close to suggesting that such principles should not be used in cases like this one.

Defendant argues that Mr. Wortman's testimony would not suffice under *Braaten* and *Simonetta* because plaintiff:

[M]ust show that Edward, specifically, supplied asbestos-containing replacement parts to the Navy and Mr. Farrow was exposed to those parts. *Braaten*, 165 Wn.2d at 396, 198 P.3d 493 ("the plaintiff must identify the particular manufacturer of the product that caused the injury"). Mr. Wortman admitted that had never heard of Edward. CP 205. It follows that he cannot possibly know whether Edward sold gaskets, packing, or anything else to the Navy. *See*, *e.g.*, *Overton v. Consolidated Ins. Co.*, 145 Wn.2d 417, 430, 38 P.3d 322 (2002).

Pet., pp. 16-17. Those arguments ignore the definition of "standard operating procedure," and ignore the law concerning circumstantial evidence. 9 WEBSTER'S NEW TWENTIETH DICTIONARY (2d Ed), page 1149 defines:

"Standard operating procedure" as "established or prescribed method to be followed routinely for the performance of designated operation or in designated situations – called also *standing operating procedure*." (Emphasis added.)

15

⁹ Overton v. Consolidated Ins. Co., 145 Wn.2d 417, 430, 38 P.3d 322 (2002) is inapplicable to this case because neither the facts nor the opinion dealt with a "standard operating procedure."

The trier of fact can properly use circumstantial evidence which, as stated at WPI 1.03, refers:

[T]o evidence from which, based on your common sense and experience, you may reasonably infer something that is at issue in this case.

The law does not distinguish between direct and circumstantial evidence in terms of their weight or value in finding the facts in this case. One is not necessarily more or less valuable than the other.

It is reasonable to infer that an organization's standard operating procedure was utilized by that organization in an individual instance even in the absence of direct evidence that it was utilized on any specific or particular occasion. Such is the very nature of circumstantial evidence. For example in *International Broth. of Teamsters v. United States*, 431 U.S. 324, 336, 97 S.Ct. 1843 (1977), the United States Supreme Court equated a pattern or practice with a "standard operating procedure", *i.e.*, to show a pattern or practice the plaintiff had to show "that racial discrimination was the company's standard operating procedure the regular rather than the unusual practice." While that inference may be rebutted, it nevertheless remains as evidence. *See Teamsters* at 361, where the court states:

If an employer fails to rebut the inference that arises from the Government's prima facie case, a trial court may then conclude that a violation has occurred and determine the appropriate remedy. Without any further evidence from the Government, a court's finding of a pattern or practice justifies an award of prospective relief. D. This Opinion Is Consistent With *Braaten* and *Simonetta* And The Record Supports Neither Flowserve's Conspiracy Theory At Pages 12-13 Or Its Apocalyptic Predictions About The Plaintiffs' Bar Nor Its Apocalyptic Predictions At Page 20

In a further and extraordinary reach to try attempt to convince this Court that this case breaks new ground, Flowserve's first argues that this case is part of a conspiracy by the "plaintiff's bar" and points to counsel in the Garlock Sealing Technologies bankruptcy by alleging that they

.... 'changed their story and began arguing that it was actually the metal equipment – and not the stem packing manufacturers – who supplies asbestos containing replacement parts to the Navy.'

Pet., p. 12. No CP cites support Flowserve's assertion about this case's connection to a national conspiracy. To the contrary, Flowserve "managing agent admitted at CP 151-154 that Flowserve supplied and marketed asbestos-containing replacement packing and other replacement parts.¹⁰

Similarly, both Flowserve's argument that "Mr. Wortman's testimony does not support an inference that Mr. Farrow was exposed to asbestos that Edward placed in the stream of commence" (Pet., p. 19), and its apocalyptic predictions at page 20 that Mr. Wortman's testimony will be a "universal and permanent bar against any

¹⁰ Nor is it clear how the Garlock bankruptcy (which according to *In re Garlock Sealing Technologies, LLC*, 504 B.R. 71, 73 (Bankr. W.D.N.C. 2014) was not filed until June 2010) could have led Mr. Wortman to testify as he did in March and April 2009 unless he was part of the conspiracy and the conspirators knew the future.

manufacturers' motion for summary judgment in any asbestos lawsuit with Navy exposure," 11 are refuted by the Court of Appeals actual analysis, e.g.,

As in *Montaney*, Farrow presented evidence that (1) he worked on and around Edward valves that created asbestos dust, which he breathed during the several decades in which he worked as a pipefitter and in the design shop at the PSNS; (2) he worked on or around Edward valves many times; and (3) EVI placed into the stream of commerce asbestos-containing products used at the PSNS. Although Tucker, EVI's CR 30(b)(6) witness, testified that EVI never manufactured, distributed, or sold any external insulation or flange gaskets, he admitted that EVI sold original and replacement packing. This evidence that EVI sold original and replacement packing—coupled with Farrow's testimony that he removed and replaced packing from Edward valves, and Wortman's testimony that the majority of replacement parts at the PSNS in later years were procured from the original manufacturer—could allow a trier of fact to reasonably infer that EVI placed asbestos-containing materials into the stream of commerce, which resulted in Farrow working on or around those products. This evidence is sufficient to survive summary judgment. Accordingly, the trial court erred by ruling to the contrary.

Slip Op., p. 17 (emphasis added).

///// ////

¹¹ It appears that Flowserve, lacking the ability to "pound" the law or facts, is attempting to "pound the table."

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied.